
 
 

CITY OF NORCO 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 

  
Wednesday, September 21, 2016 

City Council Chambers, 2820 Clark Avenue, Norco, CA 92860 
 

CALL TO ORDER:      7:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:     Present: 

Kevin Bash, Mayor 
       Greg Newton, Mayor Pro Tem 
       Robin Grundmeyer, Council Member 

Berwin Hanna, Council Member 
       Ted Hoffman, Council Member 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:   Council Member Robin Grundmeyer 
 
INVOCATION Pastor Rene Parish, Beacon Hill Assembly 

of God 
 
BUSINESS APPRECIATION HONOREE: Target Corporation 
 
Mayor Bash and Economic Development Advisory Council Vice Chair Scott da Rosa 
presented a certificate of appreciation to Monique Williams of Target for the company’s 
longstanding commitment to the families of Norco and for its generous sponsorship of the 
National Night Out event. 
   
CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS ITEMS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. CITY COUNCIL COMMUNICATIONS / REPORTS ON REGIONAL BOARDS AND 

COMMISSIONS: 
 
Council Member Hanna: 

 Attended a Northwest Mosquito and Vector Control District meeting two weeks ago. 
Vector Control staff from five different countries were in attendance.  Council 
Member Hanna that there are two active West Nile Virus cases in Riverside County.  

 
Council Member Grundmeyer: 

 No report given 
 
Council Member Hoffman:  

 Attended a Veterans Memorial Executive meeting. Commented on the November 
11 Veterans Day event at the George Ingalls Veterans Memorial Plaza. Council 
Member Hoffman also noted that veterans from various specialized fields will be 
meeting at the Veterans Memorial on October 8 and 9, 2016 and encouraged 
residents to welcome the veterans and thank them for their service. 

 On September 14th, attended a meeting with the Navy, regional representatives and 
City staff to discuss the historical resources projects on the base.  



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 2  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

 On September 15th, attended a presentation with Sheriff and Fire representatives as 
well as City staff regarding fireworks prevention and enforcement options.  

 Thanked Norco Horsemen’s Association and RURAL for hosting the candidates 
forum last week at Nellie Weaver Hall.  

 Thanked the Norco Area Chamber of Commerce for hosting the First Responders 
Appreciation Luncheon on September 14th at Nellie Weaver Hall.  
 

Mayor Pro Tem Newton: 

 On September 15th, attended a presentation with Sheriff and Fire representatives as 
well as City staff regarding fireworks prevention and enforcement options. 

 
Mayor Bash: 

 Attended a Riverside Conservation Authority meeting.  

 On September 14th, attended a meeting with the Navy, regional representatives, 
and City staff to discuss the historical resources projects on the base.  

 Commented on the SilverLakes track meet event this past weekend, which was well 
attended.   

 
2. CITY COUNCIL CONSENT ITEMS:  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Newton pulled Item 2.C. and Council Member Hoffman pulled Item 2.E.  
 
M/S HOFFMAN/BASH to approve the remaining Consent Calendar items as 
presented. The motion was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: BASH, GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, NEWTON 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 

A. City Council Regular Meeting Minutes of September 7, 2016. Action: 
Approved the City Council regular meeting minutes. (City Clerk) 

   
B. Procedural Step to Approve Ordinance after Reading of Title Only. Action: 

Approved. (City Clerk) 
 
C. Recap of the Actions Taken by the Planning Commission at its Meeting Held 

on September 14, 2016. Pulled for discussion. (Planning Director) 
 

D. Part-Time Employee Salary Schedules, 2017-2022. Action: Adopted 
Resolution No. 2016-58, updating part-time employee salary schedules 
to correspond with State of California minimum wage requirements. 
(Human Resources Analyst) 

 
E. Certified Farmers Market Recommendation from the Economic Development 

Advisory Council. Pulled for discussion. (Economic Development 
Consultant) 

 



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 3  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

F. Amendment No. 8 to the Joint Exercise of Power Agreement Creating the 
Western Riverside County Regional Wastewater Authority (WRCRWA). 
Action: Approved Amendment No. 8 to the Joint Exercise of Power 
Agreement creating the Western Riverside County Regional 
Wastewater Authority, subject to non-substantive changes and 
approval by all WRCRWA member agencies. (Director of Public Works) 

 
3. ITEM(S) PULLED FROM CITY COUNCIL CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

2.C. Recap of the Actions Taken by the Planning Commission at its Meeting Held 
on September 14, 2016. Action: Received and filed. (Planning Director) 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Newton requested to agendize Planning Commission Item 3.A. 
Conditional Use Permit 2015-06 (Duarte). Mayor Pro Tem Newton shared his concerns 
and reasons for his request. The accessory building was built over a year ago without 
permits and was a code enforcement case.  Staff recommended approval of the 
Conditional Use Permit, which sends a wrong message to the community. Mayor Pro Tem 
Newton indicated that he agreed with the Planning Commission’s denial of the Conditional 
Use Permit.  However, it was denied without prejudice and the applicant was afforded a 
time frame of six months to obtain a geotechnical report on the foundation investigation, 
which could be done within 30 days and should be the norm. 
 
Mike Thompson commented that the August 3, 2016 City Council meeting agenda had two 
appeal hearings. He said that both projects met City codes and were recommended for 
approval by staff. The City Council overturned the Planning Commission’s denials for both 
projects. Mr. Thompson asked the Council what the citizens are to expect when their 
projects meet the Municipal Code and staff recommends approval only to be denied by the 
Planning Commission because of the discretionary opinion that the projects will hurt 
animal-keeping.  Mr. Thompson said he fears expensive litigation if clear direction is not 
given regarding City codes. 
 
M/S NEWTON/BASH to appeal Conditional Use Permit 2015-06 (Duarte). The motion 
was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: BASH, GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, NEWTON 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
M/S NEWTON/BASH to receive and file remaining items on the Recap of the Actions 
taken by the Planning Commission at its meeting held on September 14, 2016. The 
motion was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: BASH, GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, NEWTON 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 4  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

2.E. Certified Farmers Market Recommendation from the Economic Development 
Advisory Council. (Economic Development Consultant) 

 
Council Member Hoffman thanked the Economic Development Advisory Council for their 
efforts involved with the research and recommendation of a certified farmers market.   
 
Council Member Grundmeyer commented that residents can participate in the certified 
farmers market as long as they obtain proper licensing and asked if EDAC and/or staff 
would work with residents to facilitate that process.  Economic Development Consultant 
Roger Grody indicated details of this program are being deferred until a professional 
manager is consulted to oversee the program. However, initial research by EDAC and 
staff, the suggestion of facilitation has been brought up and can indeed be a benefit by 
engaging the local community.  Also in response to Council Member Grundmeyer, Mr. 
Grody stated that the intent of the farmers market is to operate all year, not just seasonal, 
on a weekly basis. This idea has been attempted before but not professionally managed.  
Mr. Grody added that the culture has changed to healthier, nutritional diets.  This is also an 
opportunity to expand peoples horizons and get to know their neighbors. Mr. Grody stated 
that EDAC and staff anticipate this program beginning May 2017.  
 
Scott da Rosa, Vice Chair of the Economic Development Advisory Council, spoke from two 
perspectives – as a member of EDAC and a resident.  Vice Chair da Rosa stated that 
EDAC spent months vetting this program and gathered substantial information.  As a 
resident, Mr. da Rosa spoke with many neighbors and clients and they all had the same 
agenda of wanting local, healthy produce here in Norco.  
 
Michael da Rosa commented that there is not a wide selection of markets to shop from in 
the City. A certified farmers market in Norco would offer unique items and would build a 
sense of community.  Mr. da Rosa said this program would engage the community in 
positive ways.  
 
M/S BASH/GRUNDMEYER to approve the recommendation of the Economic 
Development Advisory Council (EDAC) to establish a Certified Farmers Market, and 
direct staff to release a Request for Proposals (RFP) to qualified professional 
managers. The motion was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: BASH, GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, NEWTON 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS:  
 
Glenn Hedges commented on a dangerous condition in the horse trail from a project on 
the corner of Sixth Street and Temescal Avenue.  On Temescal Avenue, the parkway is 36 
inches, which leaves 3 to 4 feet of the concrete apron in the horse trail.  Mr. Hedges 
indicated that he met with the City Engineer and the contractor at the site to voice his 
concerns. Mr. Hedges referenced the drawings by the contractor and noted some 
inconsistencies.  He commented that this situation is a danger and liability to the City and 
asked when correction will occur.  Mayor Bash referred Mr. Hedges to the Director of 
Public Works.  



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 5  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

 
Bonnie Slager thanked all who came to Candidate’s Forum hosted by Norco Horsemen’s 
Association last week. She also thanked staff for assisting Norco Horsemen’s Association 
with a trail project. 
 
Betty Bash commented on her objection of the approval of Conditional Use Permit 2016-
22. She expressed that residents are entitled to a fair process which is outlined in the 
Norco Municipal Code. Ms. Bash said that her letters to the City Council outline problems 
with the Conditional Use Permit process and that her rights have been denied. She stated 
her objections because the accessory building will hugely affect her property.  Ms. Bash 
asked the City Council to reconsider the approval of CUP 2016-22.  
 
Robert Leonard commented on an issue that occurred last Saturday night at 4444 Hillside 
Avenue. The location hosted a party with over 200 people. Mr. Leonard said that there 
were cars parked in the horse trails and people urinating on his property. Mr. Leonard 
commented on the noise from the party and that it continued until 7:00 a.m. the next day. 
Mr. Leonard expressed his concern about the Sheriff’s response.  He said that the 
neighbors have been a nuisance for over a year and requested assistance from the City 
Council.  Sheriff Lieutenant Eric Briddick stated that the location has been cited for parties 
as well as motorcycles on the road and that the Sheriff’s Department will continue to take 
action. 
 
Geoff Kahan commended City staff for presenting the 9/11 ceremony on Sunday, 
September 11 at 5:30 a.m. to honor and remember first responders.   
 
5. LEGISLATIVE MATTER:  
 

A. Ordinance No. 1007, Second Reading. An Ordinance of the City Council 
of the City of Norco Amending Chapter 14.04.720 of the Norco Municipal 
Code, “Water Conservation Program.” Code Change 2016-04. (City Clerk) 

 
M/S BASH/HOFFMAN to adopt Ordinance No. 1007 for second reading. The motion 
was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: BASH, GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, NEWTON 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 

 
6. DISCUSSION / ACTION ITEMS: 
 

A. Discussion Regarding Removal of Dead/Dying Trees by Southern California 
Edison. (Director of Public Works) 

 
Public Works Director Chad Blais reported that the City utilizes contract tree trimming and 
tree maintenance services to perform emergency trimming and removal, and to provide 
on-call services. West Coast Arborist (WCA) has been the contract maintenance service 
provider for the City for the last 10 years.  However, the effects of the budget cuts of the 
last ten years have altered the City’s ability to maintain a healthy urban forest and provide 
adequate maintenance and safety levels to the City tree system. This, along with the under 



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 6  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

wire utility pruning methods of SCE, has resulted in many trees that are in stress and in 
need of removal and maintenance.   
 
Director Blais gave brief overview of the current city tree inventory and impacts.  He 
indicated that the City has over 10,000 trees and over 600 have been classified for 
removal for reasons that they are dead, dying, diseased or damaged.  The estimated cost 
for complete removal is $500,000 - $600,000. Of the over 600 trees identified for removal, 
314 are in the SCE right-of-way. 
 
Director Blais also commented on SCE’s trimming practices, which are done for safety 
purposes only, not for aesthetics or tree health.  Trees have been routinely topped which 
leaves large exposed wounds that can become infested, ruins the tree structure, destroys 
the appearance of value of the trees, and increases maintenance costs. Staff met with 
SCE to discuss trimming impacts. SCE reviewed the list of 314 trees and identified 231 
trees they are willing to remove and proposed a five-year removal plan.  The total benefit 
to the City is $200,000.  However, no trees will be replanted by SCE. 
 
Council Member Grundmeyer expressed concern regarding liability for the City should 
damage occur to private property upon removal of trees.  Director Blais stated that the 
assumption is that SCE’s contractor is taking due diligence and care when removing trees. 
Director Blais said he would have the conversation with SCE. Council Member 
Grundmeyer commented that the tree removal has the greatest impact in one section of 
the City.  She said that a single resident is potentially losing four to five trees. Council 
Member Grundmeyer suggested notifying residents of trail closures prior to tree removals. 
 
Council Member Hanna also commented on the impact to one section of the City.  He 
recalled prior tree removals which involved numerous trees.  Council Member Hanna said 
it downgraded the neighborhood. Council Member Hoffman concurred and stated that one 
home in a two-year period will have 12 trees removed.  He expressed that it will be a 
shock to the home and the neighborhood in the first and second phases of the tree 
removal program. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Newton expressed that he does not support the tree removal program as 
SCE killed the trees or limited their life expectancy due to their trimming practices.  In 
response to Mayor Pro Tem Newton, Superintendent Terry Piorkowski said that a typical 
budgetary cost for a 15 gallon replacement tree planted and maintained for the first six 
months is about $125. Mayor Pro Tem Newton said that SCE should come to the table 
with a tree replacement program. Director Blais indicated that he has spoken to SCE about 
a replacement program but that SCE no longer has such program due to lack of funding.  
Funding priority was given to battling the bark beetle throughout the State.   
 
There was some discussion and suggestions of seeking grants for tree replacement 
programs.  Deputy City Manager Petree indicated that there are grants for such programs 
but are predicated on residents taking an interest in the maintenance of the trees. 
 
Staff indicated that the urgency in removing the trees is based on the potential liability and 
for public safety. 
 
Don, a member of the audience, suggested having a replacement when a tree is removed. 



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 7  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

M/S BASH/HOFFMAN to authorize staff to finalize a multi-year schedule for the 
removal of dead and dying trees by Southern California Edison and to direct staff to 
develop a tree replacement program within the next 12 months. The motion was 
carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: BASH, GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, 
NOES: NEWTON 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 

B. Appointments to the Norco Youth Advisory Council. (City Clerk) 
 

City Clerk Cheryl Link reported that the City of Norco recently established the Norco Youth 
Advisory Council, with the purpose of advising the City Council on youth-related programs. 
The Council is requested to review applications submitted for nine vacancies on the Norco 
Youth Advisory Council. Staff recommended that the City Council make nine appointments 
to serve 1-year terms (October 2016 – May 2017).  
 
The following applicants made brief comments to the City Council on their qualifications, 
merits, and why they should be appointed to the Norco Youth Advisory Council: 
 
Ashley Tejada commented on her commitment to the community and her well-rounded 
perspective.  
 
Brent Kavianian thanked the Council for the opportunity to speak before the Council.  Brent 
said he was born and raised in Norco; therefore, has a deep connection to the community. 
He expressed that the equestrian community has been well-served but would like to focus 
on bringing programming that serves other segments of the youth in the community.  
 
Danielle Smith, a Senior at Norco High School, expressed the great opportunity the Youth 
Advisory Council is bringing to the youth in learning about government and policy-making. 
 
Axel Alvarez, a Senior at Norco High School, said he possesses qualities of leadership 
and is very involved in the community.  
 
Jorgina Strojek, Senior at Norco High School, said she is a good leader and very 
responsible.  She commented on her contributions to community involvement and 
activities.  
 
Michael Young expressed his passion in government since he was a young child. He is 
active is basketball and is an honor student. Mr. Young said he communicates well with his 
peers and adults. 
 
Celine Kabbara commented on her travels to Lebanon and how she learned the value of 
volunteering and to stand up for what she believes in. She wants to ensure that the voice 
of her peers is heard. 
 
Jessica Ocampo, a Junior at JFK, said she is hardworking and strives for high quality and 
quantity of work.  She said she can interpret different ideas. 
 



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 8  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

Isabella Xiao, student at JFK, expressed the importance of communication and that she is 
open to the thoughts and ideas of others. She studied at Stanford University over the 
summer where she met many students from all over the world and got a better 
understanding of cultures. 
 
The City Council thanked the students for speaking.  The City Clerk gave each Council 
Member a voting ballot and requested that the Council vote for nine members.   
 
Mayor Bash recessed the meeting at 8:32 p.m. and reconvened the meeting at 8:41 p.m. 
 
Upon collecting the ballots and counting the votes with the Deputy City Clerk, the City 
Clerk announced that eight applicants received a majority vote of the City Council for 
appointment.  The City Clerk distributed a second round of ballots and instructed the City 
Council to vote for one applicant.  Upon collection of the ballots and counting the votes, the 
City Clerk indicated that a majority vote of the City Council was not reached for the 
appointment of the ninth member. 
 
Mayor Bash asked if there were any applicants in the audience that did not speak.  
Laramie Huffman was asked to speak. 
 
Laramie Huffman, a Freshman at Norco High School, said she is involved in the FFA 
program, ROTC, and Jr. Bull Riders.  As a Freshman, she said she could offer a different 
perspective than her upperclassmen.  
 
The City Clerk distributed a third round of ballots.   
 
The City Council, by majority vote, appointed the following applicants to serve on 
the Norco Youth Advisory Council effective October 1, 2016: 
 

Brent Kavianian 
Danielle Smith 
Michael Young 
Jessica Ocampo 
Celine Kabbara 
Ashley Tejada 
Jorgina Strojek 
Axel Alvarez 
Laramie Huffman 

 
Voting ballots are available in the City Clerk’s Office for public viewing. 
 
7. CITY COUNCIL / CITY MANAGER / STAFF COMMUNICATIONS: 
  
Public Works Director Chad Blais provided a status update on the fire hydrant.  He 
indicated that at the September 7, 2016 Council meeting, he reported that there were 
seven inoperable hydrants.  As of today, only three hydrants are left that are in need of 
repairs.  
 



City Council Minutes, Regular Meeting   
Page 9  
September 21, 2016 
 
 

City Manager Andy Okoro reminded the City Council and the public of the City Council 
Study Session scheduled next week, September 28, 2016 at 4:00 p.m. to review the water 
and sewer rates study.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Newton commented that Southern California Edison has been through 
various parts of Old Town Norco removing the electrical apparatus from their poles 
resulting in dead trees. Mayor Pro Tem Newton requested a date certain of when the 
telephone company is going to make the transition to the new SCE poles and remove the 
old poles.  Director Blais indicated that he has called the telephone company but has not 
received a response.  Mr. Blais said he would continue to follow up.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Newton commented on issues with accessory buildings and a sense of 
loss of direction.  Mayor Pro Tem requested to agendize reconsideration of Conditional 
Use Permit 2016-22.  
 
Mayor Bash left the dais at 9:42 p.m.  
 
Deputy City Attorney Colin Burns stated for the record that Mayor Bash recused himself 
from discussion on reconsideration of CUP 2016-22 due to a conflict of interest. Mayor Pro 
Tem Newton presided over the meeting. 
 
M/S NEWTON/HOFFMAN to agendize reconsideration of the vote on the motion to 
approve Conditional Use Permit 2016-22 (Podaca) with additional conditions as 
noted by the City Council. The motion was carried by the following roll call vote: 
AYES: GRUNDMEYER, HANNA, HOFFMAN, NEWTON 
NOES: NONE 
ABSENT: BASH 
ABSTAIN: NONE 
 
Mayor Bash returned to the dais at 9:44 p.m.  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
 
Mayor Bash adjourned the meeting at 9:44pm. 
 
 

___________________________ 
Cheryl L. Link, City Clerk, CMC 


